
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, August 28, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought    
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum in accordance with City Charter Section 2.10 (i)(b)  
(PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL BE SHARED DURING 
PUBLIC FORUM. EMAIL:  dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes             Page # 

a. Regular City Council meeting – June 26 , 2023       02-07 
b. Special City Council meeting – August 14, 2023       08-11  

6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 
a. Appointment to the Nylander Board of Directors      12-15 
b. Award contract for the QEP for the Brownfields project at the Caribou Diesel Electric Plant 16-29 

7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
8. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Update about taxpayer feedback on market adjustments     30-32 
b. Election memo for November 7, 2023 election       33 
c. July 2023 Financials – Finance Director        34-50 
d. Manager’s Report          51-52 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Request by Maine DOT for an overlimit permit, Project 018984.00 (Bridge Street)  53-62 
b. Request to cancel the September 11, 2023 regularly scheduled City Council meeting  63 

10. Old Business 
a. Findings and Order – 24 Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73      64-66 
b. Final draft: Ordinance 3, 2023 Series, Charter Amendment, an Ordinance to Amend the  67-68 

Capital Improvement Referendum Process 
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 
12. Next Regular Meetings: September 11 (?) & September 25 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting, Monday, May 22, 2023, in the Council 
Chambers with the following members present; Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors 
Bagley, Goughan, Morrill, Theriault, and Willey.   

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Managers Carl Grant (Finance Director), Peter Baldwin (Library Director), and Gary 
Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation) were present for the meeting. 

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 
YouTube.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Pastor Sullivan of the Caribou United Baptist Church led the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Regular City Council meeting – May 22, 2023 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to approve the minutes 
from May 22, 2023 as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Introduction of the new owners of Bechard’s Grille: John and Rae Rossignol 

The Rossignol’s were unable to attend the meeting.  

b.  Introduction of the new owners of Big Bang Theater: Michael & Pat Cyr 

Michael and Pat Cyr, the new owners of the Big Bang Theater in Caribou came and introduced 
themselves to the council and explained that they are looking at updating the theatre and excited 
about hosting different events.   

The Council thanked both businesses for their contributions to the community and keeping the 
businesses in Caribou.   

c.  Birthday Greetings, Caribou Boston Post Cane holder – Anna Marie Roberts 

2



June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 2 

Manager Thompson stated that on July 6th Anna Marie Roberts will be 106 years young and she 
is our Boston Post Cane holder.   

d.  Recognition of Caribou Rehab and Nursing Center for 50 years 

Councilor Morrill briefly explained some of the history of the Caribou Rehab and Nursing 
Center that was built in 1972 by Albert Cyr.  The nursing home opened in 1973 with 60 beds.  He 
extended his gratitude to the Cyr’s and to the Caribou Rehab & Nursing Center for their time and 
service to the community.  

The Council thanked Mr. Phil Cyr for his years of service to the community.   

Mr. Cyr introduced Doug Hise who will be learning the ropes and taking over the reins as 
Administrator of the Nursing Facility.  

e.  Spirit of America honorees: Gary Cook & Keith Brown 

Mayor Smith presented Gary Cook with a Spirit of America Plaque.  Mr. Cook was nominated 
by Denise Lausier for his many years of work volunteering for the Caribou United Baptist 
Church Food Pantry.  

Mayor Smith presented Keith Brown with a Spirit of America Plaque.  Mr. Brown was 
nominated by Gary Marquis for his time and volunteering to help with the recreational trails.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 7 Water Street, Map 31 Lot 171 

Open Public Hearing: 6:20 pm 

Manager Thompson explained the hearing was introduced at the last meeting by our former Code 
Enforcement Officer Ken Murchison who has been working on this since there was a fire on 
January 25.  On February 13th a legal notice of Condemned Building was sent, followed by a 
second notice in March. The property was not insured at the time of the fire; however, the bank 
NorState Federal Credit Union had forced place insurance on the property and so they were 
made hole and discharged the mortgage in April.  On April 24th a final notice of a Condemned 
Building was sent.  As time progressed the Bickford’s filed for Bankruptcy and the Code 
Enforcement Officer requested a public hearing be set for June 26th to declare the property at 7 
Water Street as a public hearing.  There are also tax lien certificates on file for the property.   

Next steps would be to sign hearing notices to be recorded and sent to the Beckford’s and parties 
of interest.   

Christopher Ledger, Attorney for the Bickford’s  

Mr. Ledger stated that there are some procedural defects regarding the public hearing and that he 
was not aware of the Bickford’s being served.   

3



June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 3 

Manager Thompson explained that tonight is just to start the process and for the council to 
decide if they want to proceed with the dangerous building request and have the notice signed to 
send to the Bickford’s for the hearing.   

Mr. Ledger expressed concern that the Bickford’s had not been served with a notice of the 
hearing that is currently taking place.  

Manager Thompson explained that the hearing would be held at a future meeting on July 24th 
regarding the property.   

Mr. Ledger explained that he found the information about the hearing on the website, and he was 
concerned that the parties of interest had not been served.  He stated that they are going to be 
discharged in bankruptcy and neither have the ability to take care of the building. 

Councilor Bagley explained that the public hearing was being held to see if the council was 
interested in signing the notice of hearing to see if they would like to go forward with the 
dangerous buildings process.  

Closed Public Hearing: 6:32pm  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Mayor Smith to deem the property at 7 Water 
Street, Map 31 Lot 171 a dangerous property. 

Manager Thompson explained that they should include signing the notice of hearing.   

Councilor Bagley stated that they should probably amend the motion to include the signing of 
the hearing.  

Councilor Morrill amended his motion and Mayor Smith amended his second. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Mayor Smith to deem the property at 7 Water 
Street, Map 31 Lot 171 a dangerous property and to take into place the consideration of the 
hearing with the signing of the notice and proceeding with public hearings as scheduled.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  Dangerous Building Public Hearing – 24 Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73 

Open Public Hearing: 6:34 pm 

Manager Thompson explained that the property has been vacant for 13 years.  In June of 2010 
the city received a letter of impending foreclosure and in the next month a legal notice of 
violation was sent.  There was a complaint for foreclosure, and it was never finalized.  Over the 
next few years several notices of violation were sent to the owner.  In 2019 the owner stated that 
she did not believe she was responsible because the property was in foreclosure.  There have 
been property maintenance companies that have gone to the residence on behalf of the lender to 
verify that the property was vacant.  In May of 2022 a final notice of violation for a nuisance or 
dangerous property was sent and on May 22nd the code enforcement officer presented 24 Park 
Street as a dangerous building and requested that a public hearing be set. On June 15, 2023 

4



June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 4 

Manager Thompson stated that she found that the mortgage has been discharged, CUD liens are 
paid but there is still a bill.   

The Council had a brief discussion with Manager Thompson confirming that the taxes were 
current and that the main concern is for safety of the children in the area.   

Mark Leuhrs, Caribou Resident  

Mr. Leuhrs just wanted to confirm that the bank had discharged the mortgage.  

Manager Thompson confirmed that the bank had discharged the mortgage.  

Closed Public hearing at 7:42 pm. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to deem the property at 24 
Park Street, Map 35 Lot 73 a dangerous building and to sign the notice of hearing.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  Tax Acquired property bid – 8 Shirley Drive 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) explained that an offer has been received from Viking Group LLC 
for Map 37, Lot 18, 8 Shirley Drive for $18,100.  The property has been out to bid for a 
minimum bid amount of $18,100 with no bids on this property.   

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the offer of 
$18,100 for Map 37, Lot 18, 8 Shirley Drive.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  April 2023 Financials – Finance Director 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the April 2023 Financial Report.   

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the May 2023 
Financial report as presented. 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

c.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated June 26, 2023. 

Mark Leuhrs asked why the city doesn’t provide a clear title and uses a quit claim deed.   

5



June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 5 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) explained that it comes down to legal fees and different scenarios, 
but the person who purchases the property can go through the process for a clear title themselves 
if they choose.   

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a. Introduction of Nylander Bylaws 

Mayor Smith explained that recently the Council appointed a working board to start working to 
and the facilities up and running again.  They have started with creating a set of bylaws,  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the bylaws as 
presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

b.  Introduction of Ordinance 3, 2023 Series, Charter Amendment, an Ordinance to Amend the 
Capital Improvement Referendum Process 

Councilor Morrill introduced Ordinance 3, 2023 Series, Charter Amendment, an Ordinance to 
Amend the Capital Improvement Referendum Process.  

c.  First Read: MOU for the Dust Bowl 

Councilor Bagley would like to know which events were held where and what would be on City 
property.   

Manager Thompson explained that the items on the 15th will be held at the Wellness Center.  

 Troy Haney, Caribou Resident, and business owner 

Mr. Haney explained some of the events that will be taking place at the Dust Bowl, from Zip 
Line rides, shows, food trucks, pumpkin drops and many more activities.   

The Council expressed concerns about letting people utilize the rec facilities, and employees for 
the events at no cost.   

Motion made by Mayor Smith, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter into MOU as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

d.  Resolution 06-02-2023, Establishing the 2023 Property Tax Rates and Related Deadlines 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to table the discussion of 
9-D until a later meeting.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

6



June 26, 2023 
23-12 Pg. 6 

Councilor Goughan expressed his frustration with not having a conversation regarding the tax rate 
until a later date.   

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Bagley stated that he regretted his vote and agreed with Councilor Goughan regarding 
not discussing the tax rate until a later date.  He also stated that there is a grand opening on the 
28th for the Community Garden at 12:00 pm.   

Deputy Mayor Boma stated that the Public Safety Committee met with Artifex in May, and they 
are waiting to see when they can come back to look at the site.  She also gave a shout out to Gary 
and the Parks & rec for taking care of the ATV trails and stated they were awesome.    

Councilor Theriault stated that the new Nylander Board has met twice, and that they are a good 
diverse board working to get the Nylander running again.   

Council Agenda Item #12:   

Special Meeting on July 10 to set the mil rate 

Next Regular Meetings:  July 24, August 28  

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 
under MRSA, Title 1, § 405.6) 

Council did not enter executive session.  

Council Agenda item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 
7:40 pm.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

7



August 14, 2023 
23-15 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a Special City Council meeting, Monday, August 14, 2023, in the 
Council Chambers with the following members present; Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, 
Councilors Bagley, Goughan, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.   

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Managers Michael Gahagan (Police Chief), Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks 
and Recreation), Dave Ouellette (Public Works Director) and Lisa Plourde (Housing Director) 
were present for the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, Rothery Sullivan of WAGM-
TV covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via YouTube and Spectrum.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Mayor Smith read an invocation.   

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance  

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments made by the public.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Resolution 08-01-2023, Establishing the 2023 Property Tax Rates and Related Deadlines 

Manager Thompson explained that at the second meeting in July because things when moving 
into the states form had a missing calculation.  There was also a discussion to cut from municipal 
appropriation and add from other revenues the amount from the resource reserve which has been 
done.  She stated that the proposed mil rate using the resource reserve is 19.5.   

Motion made by Councilor Bagley, seconded by Councilor Goughan to set the 2023 mil rate at 
19.3 and reduce our 2023 expense budget by$88,400 as follows: 

10- General Government: Reduce $860,871 by $6,500 for a new total of $854,371 (which is still 
a 13.7% increase over 2022, compared to the 183.9% increase requested) 

12- Nylander Museum: Reduce $53,903 by $5,000 for a new total of $48,903 (which is still a 
157.5% increase over 2022, compared to the 183.9% increase requested.  

20- General Assistance: Reduce $43,047 by $8,400 for a new total of $34,647 (which is still a 
29.3% increase over 2022, compared to the 60.6% increase requested.  

25- Library: Reduce $246,852 by $6,400 for a new total of $240,452 (which is still a 10.7% 
increase over 2022, compared to the 13.7% increase requested) 

8



August 14, 2023 
23-15 Pg. 2 

35- Police: Reduce $1,870,971 by $16,800 for a new total of $1,854171 (which is still a 10.0% 
increase over 2022, compared to the 11.1% increase requested) 

50- Recreation: Reduce $656,660 by $27,000 for a new total of $629,665 (which is still a 14.8% 
increase over 2022, compared to the 19.6% increase requested.  

51- Parks: Reduce $198,997 by $5,000 for a new total of $193,997 (which is still a 13.1% 
increase over 2022, compared to the 16.0% increase requested)  

60- Airport: Reduce $101,462 by $7,000 for a new total of $94,462 (which is still a 10.2% 
increase over 2022, compared to the 18.3% increase requested) 

61- Caribou Trailer Park:  Reduce $13,455 by $6,300 for a new total of $7,155 (which reflects a 
43% decrease from 2022, compared to the 6.4% increase requested, taking into consideration 
that the trailer park has closed). 

Councilor Morrill stated that the mil rate has 3 components, and that the municipality always 
takes a big hit, and that we really have no say over the RSU and the County.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – No, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – No, J. Theriault – 
No, L. Willey – No, J. Smith – No, C. (Motion Fails) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to set the 2023 mil rate at 
19.5.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault – 
Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to set the date of commitment 
as Thursday, August 17, 2023.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to set the due date as 
Monday, August 31, 2023.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to set the date for interest to 
begin as Sunday, October 1, 2023.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Bagley to set the rate of interest on delinquent taxes at 4%.  

Motion failed for lack of second.  

9



August 14, 2023 
23-15 Pg. 3 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to set the rate of interest on 
delinquent taxes at 8%.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to establish a rate of interest 
on overpayments and or abatement of property taxes at 0%.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to close the city office at 1:00 
pm on Friday, December 29, 2023 so staff can complete the year end process.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – No, C. (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to change the revenue lines 
as follows: 

Line Number Description Original Budget Amended Budget 
R10-01-32 Property Taxes $ 3,615,900 $   3,621,819.19 
R10-01-34 Overlay $    0 $        21,341.98 
R11-01-01 Economic Development (TIF) $    315,000 $      747,801 
R22-01-04 Homestead Exemption $    830,000 $      914,086.63 
R22-01-05 BETE Reimbursement $    175,000 $      392,153.93 

 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Reports and discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Goughan commended both Councilors Bagley and Morrill and stated that they did a 
great job at expressing their opinions even though they were on opposite sides.  He also thanked 
Councilor Bagley for the work that he did to bring the information to the table.  

Councilor Morrill thanked the department heads and employees for the work that they do.  He also 
stated that you should check out the construction at the landfill with the creation of the new cell.  

Council Agenda Item #7:  Next Regular Meeting August 28 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 
MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

The Council did not enter executive session.  

Council Agenda Item #9:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 6:26 
pm.   

10



August 14, 2023 
23-15 Pg. 4 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 
– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes, C. (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

 

11



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Nylander Board of Directors   

  

Romeo Parent has resigned his position on the Nylander Board of Directors. Two applications have been 
received to fill the remainder of the term which expires on December 31, 2023. Applications were 
received from: Robert Carlson & John Shaw. 

The Library Director has enclosed a memo with a recommendation. 

 

Suggested Action: 

Please make a motion to appoint a replacement to the Nylander Board for the remainder of the term 
which expires on December 31, 2023. 

Second 

Discussion 

Vote 

 

 

12



 

Caribou Public Library • 30 High Street • Caribou, Maine • 04736 | 207-493-4214 

Caribou Public Library 
Where heritage meets innovation 

 
 
25 August 2023 
 
City Council 
City Manager Penny Thompson 
25 High St. 
Caribou, ME 04736 
 
To Mayor Smith, City Councilors, and Penny Thompson, 
 
As the Nylander Museum of Natural History Board of Trustees has an open seat, the Library Director 
would like to recommend Robert Carlson to serve for a 1-year term. 
 
It is the belief of the Library Director that Robert Carlson’s prior board appointments and professional 
experience will be invaluable to the museum and Board discussions as we consider reopening and 
program development.  
 
Respectfully, 
 

Peter J. Baldwin Jr 
 
Peter J. Baldwin Jr. 
Library Director 
 
  

13



14



15



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Qualified Environmental Professional contract award   

  

As part of the EPA Brownfields grant project at the Caribou Diesel Electric Power Plant and Outbuildings 
Brownfields Cleanup project, the City of Caribou needs to contract with a Qualified Environmental 
Professional  (QEP). The Request for Proposal can be found here: 

https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Brownfield-RFP-Diesel.pdf 

The Cleanup work plan can be found here: 

https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/CleanupWorkplanWithBudget-
CARIBOU.pdf 

The only proposal received was from County Environmental Engineering, Inc. 

The Selection Review Committee met on Tuesday August 22 and interviewed Michelle Hersey of County 
Environmental Engineering, Inc. and voted unanimously to recommend County Environmental 
Engineering, Inc. to do this work.  

Project funding should be available after October 1, 2023. The RFP was based on the one provided by the 
EPA. Staff will also work with EPA to bring a contract back to the City Council for a final review. 

 

Suggested Action: 

Please make a motion to retain County Environmental Engineering, Inc. as the Qualified Environmental 
Professional  (QEP) for the Caribou Diesel Electric Power Plant and Outbuildings Brownfields Cleanup 
project for an amount not to exceed $82,000.  

Second 

Discussion 

Vote 

 

 

16

https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Brownfield-RFP-Diesel.pdf
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/CleanupWorkplanWithBudget-CARIBOU.pdf
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/CleanupWorkplanWithBudget-CARIBOU.pdf


17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Taxpayer feedback on market adjustments   

  

Like many municipalities in Maine, Caribou needed to update values to maintain equity with the sales 
prices of homes in the current real estate market. Staff have received a lot of questions since the tax bills 
were mailed. 

Tonight, staff will provide a brief synopsis of the taxpayer feedback on market adjustments. 

 

 

No action required 

 

30



The 2023 property tax bills were received by Caribou property owners this week. This has 
generated a lot of calls to the office. Some of the frequently asked questions are: 

If the tax rate went down, why did my bill go up? 

The 2023 Tax Rate is .01950 or 19.5 mil. Even though the amount to be raised for the municipal 
budget, RSU#39 appropriation and Aroostook County tax bill were all increased for 2023, the 
2023 tax rate is lower because property values were adjusted based on recent sales in Caribou. 

This was passed by a majority of the Caribou City Council and was not unanimously approved. 

Did the whole City of Caribou experience an increase in valuation? 

Yes. These adjustments were not aimed at a particular neighborhood or part of the city. That said, 
the data was clear that the nicer quality construction did need to go up more than the lower quality 
construction. That inequity was addressed in the adjustments that were made, resulting in a more 
equitable apportionment of the tax burden. 

My neighbors’ house is very similar so why did my tax bill go up and theirs remained exactly 
the same as last year? 

If the tax amount due was exactly the same as last year, your neighbors may have had their taxes 
stabilized through the State of Maine Senior Property Tax Stabilization program. The tax bill for 
stabilized accounts has the calculated amount of taxes and the stabilized amount. The State of 
Maine will pay the difference between the calculated amount and stabilized amount. This was a 
one-year program. 

Why did my Homestead Exemption increase? 

The 2023 Certified Ratio is 124%. Last year the certified ratio was 95% so we were required to 
factor exemptions by 95% so they were less than the full state value of Homestead $25,000, 
Veteran $6,000, Blind $4,000. The sales that Maine Revenue Service uses as the basis for 2023 
State Valuation took place between July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021. With no adjustments to property 
values, the 2023 certified ratio would have been 88%. Instead of making a 1-year adjustment, the 
decision was made to look at all sales through April 1, 2023 and adjust according to that trend. 
This resulted in a ratio of 113% for those sales from July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021. The State of 
Maine allows a 10% above or below the ratio so the decision was made to certify at 124% to give 
our taxpayers the highest possible exemption amount (and the highest reimbursement from the 
state). The amount of the exemptions for 2023 in Caribou are: 

Homestead:   $31,000 Veteran:  $  7,440 Blind:   $  4,960 

The State of Maine reimburses 76% of lost revenue from Homestead and 50% for Veteran & Blind. 

Why did my business personal property tax bill increase? 

The City of Caribou is required to adjust the value of business personal property by the same 
certified ratio as real estate. In 2022, the certified ratio was 95% so the City was required to factor 

31



all business personal property – including all BETE exempt property by 95%. The 2023 Certified 
Ratio is 124% so all business personal property was factored by 124%. 

The state has a tax relief program to reimburse qualified businesses for the taxes paid on qualified 
business equipment. It is called the Business Equipment Tax Reimbursement (BETR) program 
and runs from August 1 to December 31 the year after the tax was assessed. For more information, 
please visit the State of Maine website: 

https://www.maine.gov/revenue/taxes/tax-relief-credits-programs/property-tax-relief-
programs/business-equipment-tax-programs 

Was this a revaluation? 

This project was not a full measure and list revaluation where each house was visited, and all 
construction measured and assessed for quality and condition. The last time that was done was in 
2012, so there is a possibility that some homes may have fallen into disrepair over the past 11 
years, while others may have improved in condition. When the last revaluation was done in 2012, 
one advantage was that market adjustments could be done without a full revaluation. The 2012 
revaluation cost $324,500 and took two years. Almost every municipality in Maine is doing or 
planning to do a market adjustment or revaluation and we are fortunate that this update could be 
accomplished without a costly revaluation. 

Why did the City of Caribou undergo a market adjustment at this time? 

The market adjustments were based on real estate market conditions July 1, 2021, through June 
30, 2022. That is the period covered during the most recent State Valuation audit done by 
representatives of Maine Revenue Services. Their audit showed the City of Caribou tax 
assessments at just 72% of market value. Legally, the City of Caribou cannot go below 70% of 
market value on their assessments. The city was dangerously close to that, and looking at the data 
post-June 30, 2022, there is no doubt that had adjustments not been made, the City of Caribou 
would drop below the 70% legal threshold in the next audit cycle. Additionally, this drop in ratio 
would have a negative effect on those folks receiving the homestead, veteran, or blind exemptions, 
as those exemptions would have needed to be factored by the ratio arrived at by Maine Revenue 
Services. The City of Caribou also would have forfeited reimbursement revenue from the Business 
Equipment Tax Exemption (BETE) program had the adjustments not been made. 

What are my appeal options? 

The assessor’s agent for real estate will be happy to look at those on a case-by-case basis and adjust 
as necessary. Please contact the assessor’s office for Joe’s contact information. 

There is additional abatement information available online: 

https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/2023-CITY-OF-CARIBOU-
ABATEMENT-PACKET.pdf 

 

32

https://www.maine.gov/revenue/taxes/tax-relief-credits-programs/property-tax-relief-programs/business-equipment-tax-programs
https://www.maine.gov/revenue/taxes/tax-relief-credits-programs/property-tax-relief-programs/business-equipment-tax-programs
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/2023-CITY-OF-CARIBOU-ABATEMENT-PACKET.pdf
https://www.cariboumaine.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/2023-CITY-OF-CARIBOU-ABATEMENT-PACKET.pdf


 
 

 
CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Danielle Brissette  
RE:   November 7, 2023 Municipal & Referendum Election 
DATE:  August 16, 2023 
 

 
 

The Clerk’s Office is preparing for the November 7, 2023 Municipal & Referendum Election and is 
requesting Council approval for the following.  

 1.  Approval of and 8:00 a.m. opening Time for November 7, 2023 Election 

 2.  Appointment of Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Cherie Garman & Kristina 
Drinkall as Deputy Wardens for the November 7, 2023 Election  

 

Recommended Motion: 

Move to set the start time as 8:00 a.m. and to appoint Danielle Brissette as Election Warden,  
Cherie Garman & Kristina Drinkall as Deputy Wardens for the November 7, 2023 Election. 

33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



City Manager's Report
August 28, 2023

 

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants Brownfields conference August 7‐11 in Detroit. Agreement with QEP on the agenda tonight.

Broadband Initiative There is a final draft contract in the hands of Charter / Spectrum. They are due to MCA at end of September.

CDBG No new updates.

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates.

Events and Marketing Parks and Recreation is working on the Annual Craft Fair.

Landbank Councilor Bagley has been looking into Land Bank ideas & present to CEGC at their last meeting.

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates.

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates.

Blight Cleanup No new updates.

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates.

Caribou Development Committee There was not a quorum for the August 23 meeting. 

River Front - Master Plan The City of Caribou was award a grant that will include a Riverfront Master Plan!

Façade Improvement Program The Fall application period is open. Applications due September 29.

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates.

Caribou Economic Growth Council Met on August 24. A special meeting has been scheduled for August 29.

Business Outreach Many inquires about the façade improvement grant program (now open).

51



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy No new updates.

Nylander Work is ongoing. 

Fire Structural Work No new updates.

Fire Station Renovations No new updates.

Police Station Artifex received some helpful information from Dale Blackstone and the Caribou utilities District.

River Road No new updates.

Investment Policy No new updates.

Trailer Park Closure No new updates.

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates.

Airport No new updates.

Personnel Policy No new updates.

New LED Street lights No new updates.

Comp Plan Update Economy work session will be held on Thursday August 31 at the Wellness Center. All are invited.

LD 2003 Implementation No new updates.

15 Prospect Street This is in the courts.

Water Street Fire CEGC received a letter requesting a discharge of the amount owed by owners of 7 Water Street.

Age-Friendly Efforts Meeting held on August 22.

Personnel Changes No new updates.

DOT Village Partnership RFP will be out soon.

Aroostook Waste Solutions Construction of 5&6 underway.

Cary Medical Center 100th Anniversary in 2024. Planning underway. If you have old photos, memorabilia or stories, please reach out to Bill Flagg.

Administrative Approvals Liquor license renewal ‐ Northern Maine Brewing; Extension of premises extension for Evergreen Lanes

Other Updates The lack of available childcare in Caribou is a workforce and economic development issue.

52



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Maine DOT overlimit permit, Project 018984.00, Bridge Street over Caribou Stream   

  

The Maine Department of Transportation is seeking a Construction Overlimit Permit for Project 
018984.00, Bridge Street over Caribou Stream. 
 
A copy of the paperwork received by the City Clerk is on the following pages. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If the agreement is satisfactory, please make a motion “to approve a Construction Overlimit Permit for 
Maine Department of Transportation for the  Bridge Street over Caribou Stream Construction project # 
018984.00” 
 
Second 
 
Discuss 
 
Vote 

53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Request by City Manager to cancel the September 11, 2023 Regular City Council meeting  

  

The first meeting in September is scheduled for September 11. Because of the Labor Day holiday, the Cary 
Medical Center Board of Directors meeting is also scheduled for September 11. Cary Medical Center is a 
department of the city and a major employer in Caribou. According to the charter, the City Manager is an 
ex-officio member of the Cary Medical Center Board of Directors. For those reasons, I feel it is important 
to attend those meetings. We also had this conflict earlier in the year. The Cary Board moved the meeting. 
 
Additionally, Tuesday September 12 is the Clerk’s Networking Day in Augusta. Title 30-A §2653 states, 
“Each municipality shall pay the reasonable expenses of its clerk and deputy clerk incurred in attending 
the annual meetings of the Maine Municipal Association and the Maine Town and City Clerks' 
Association.” The City Clerks will leave on Monday afternoon at 1:00 to travel to Augusta for the meeting 
on Tuesday.  
 
Note: This is also notice that the City Clerks office will be closed from 1:00 Monday and all day Tuesday 
while they attend this training. 
 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If this is satisfactory, please make a motion to cancel the September 11, 2023 Regular City Council 
meeting. 
 
Second 
 
Discuss 
 
Vote 

63



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Findings and Order – 24 Park Street  

  

This is a follow-up item on the action taken by the City Council at the July 24 City Council meeting. 
 
24 Park Street was affirmed to be a dangerous building. The findings and order are attached for review. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
If the Fings and Order is satisfactory, please make a motion to approve and sign the findings and order 
to be delivered to the owner of 24 Park Street and will be recorded at the Southern Registry of Deeds in 
Houlton. 
 
Second 
 
Discuss 
 
Vote 

64



FINDINGS AND ORDER 
Pursuant to 17 M.R.S.A. §§ 2851 – 2859 

(Dangerous Buildings) 
(Page 1 of 2) 

 
TO: Laurie A. Mueller 
 5 Mulberry Drive 
 Presque Isle Maine 04769 
 
RE: 24 Park Street Map 35 Lot 73 in Caribou, Maine (subject property) 
 
On Monday July 24 at 6:00 pm Eastern Standard Time at 25 High Street in Caribou (Aroostook 
County) Maine, the Municipal Officers of the City of Caribou, Maine held a hearing to determine 
whether the residential building owned by you and located on land owned by you and shown on 
Map 35 Lot 73 of the current tax maps of the City of Caribou, Maine on file at 25 High Street, 
commonly known as 24 Park Street in Caribou, Maine is a nuisance or dangerous within the 
meaning of 17 M.R.S.A. § 2851. Notice of this hearing was duly served on you as the owner and 
on all parties-in-interest. 
 
The following person was present and testified: Penny Thompson as City Manager for the City of 
Caribou, Maine. 
 
Based on her testimony and other evidence presented and made part of the record, the Municipal 
Officers find the following facts: The property has appeared to be vacant since June 2010. On or 
about July 23, 2010, the Code Enforcement Officer for the City of Caribou was made aware that 
the residential building at the subject property was unsecure and the lawn was not mowed. The 
Code Enforcement Officer for the City of Caribou sent a Notice of Violation again in July 2014. 
In June 2017, the Code Enforcement Officer for the City of Caribou was made aware that the 
residential building at the subject property had a foundation issue. Notices were also sent in April 
2019,  May 2021 and May 2022 to the owner of record. No action was taken to repair the 
foundation as ordered. In June 2023, a selection of photos and other documents were shared with 
the Municipal Officers showing the foundation and general unsafe issues with the building. An 
unsafe condition exists because the foundation is collapsing, and other elements required for 
human habitation are missing. 
 
Based on the foregoing findings, the Municipal Officers conclude that the building commonly 
known as 24 Park Street in Caribou, Maine (Map 35 Lot 73)  is a nuisance or dangerous because 
it meets the definition of a building adjudged a nuisance or dangerous under the standard in 17 
M.R.S.A. § 2851 (2-A) because it is structurally unsafe, unstable and unsanitary; is unsuitable and 
improper for the use or occupancy to which it is put; constitutes a hazard to health and safety 
because of inadequate maintenance and is otherwise dangerous to life and property. 

65



(Page 2 of 2) 
 

Therefore, pursuant to 17 M.R.S.A. § 2851, you are hereby ORDERED to, within 30 days of 
service of this order, secure the building, and confirm the submitted plan and timeline for repair. 
Pursuant to 17 M.R.S.A. § 2851, you are hereby ORDERED to complete the repair or demolition 
of this building in accordance with all applicable City of Caribou ordinances, within 90 days of 
service of this order. Regular project updates shall be given to the City of Caribou Code 
Enforcement Department. 
 
This decision may be appealed to Superior Court under the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 
80B. If this order is not timely complied with and no timely appeal is taken, the Municipal Officers 
may undertake the ordered corrective action at municipal expense and recover all expenses, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees, by means of a special tax or civil action. 
 
Dated: August 28, 2023, the Municipal Officers City of Caribou, Maine: 
 
_____________________________    ______________________________ 
Daniel Bagley       Courtney Boma 
 
_____________________________    ______________________________ 
R. Mark Goughan      John Morrill 
 
_____________________________    ______________________________ 
Joan Theriault       Louella Willey 
 
_____________________________     
Jody Smith        

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

 
STATE OF MAINE, County of Aroostook   Date: August 28, 2023 
 
Then personally appeared before me at Caribou, Maine the above-named Municipal Officers of 
the Municipality of Caribou and acknowledged the foregoing to be their free act and deed in their 
said capacity and the free act and deed of the Inhabitants of the said Municipality. 
Before me, 
 
_________________________________________ 
Signature of Notary Public 
Danielle M. Brissette 
My commission expires: March 12, 2026 

66



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 

To:   Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Penny Thompson, City Manager 
Date:   August 28, 2023 
Re:   Charter amendment from the City Council Charter committee  

  

The Caribou City Council charter committee met and indicated that they would like to put the 
charter change (see next page) on the ballot at the November 7, 2023, election. 
 
There has been a public hearing and a vote. The vote included a change to the language that was 
originally proposed. I have included it in the packet.  
 
 
No action is required.  

67



 

 

From the Caribou City Council Charter Commitee for the November 2023 elec�on, one ques�on for the ballot amending 
Sec�on 5.06 (b) (4). 

QUESTION 1 
Ordinance No. 3, 2023 Series 

 

Shall the municipality approve the charter amendment reprinted (summarized) below? 
               YES 

               NO 

 

Amendment. 
Caribou City Charter Section 5.06  Budget (b)(4) is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text 
is deleted). 

(4) Submissions of projects to voters. All capital improvement projects involving $500,000 or more of municipal 
funds shall be submitted to the registered voters of the City of Caribou by holding a referendum vote thereon at 
an election held in November.  If a majority of ballots cast for a referendum question favors approval the 
improvement project is approved., provided the total number of votes cast for and against the referendum question 
equals or exceeds 65% of the total number of registered voters in City of Caribou at the time of the election. A 
project is defined as a complete list of capital expense purchases combined together to build a building, purchase 
vehicles or machinery, provide a service to the citizens of the city, or a combination thereof, and not currently 
part of the schedule of City assets. 

68


